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MINUTES 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

MAY 19, 2016 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT    COMMISSIONERS ABSENT 
 
Mr. Rusty Strodtman     Mr. Steve Reichlin 
Ms. Tootie Burns     Ms. Sara Loe 
Mr. Anthony Stanton     Ms. Lee Russell 
Mr. Dan Harder 
Ms. Joy Rushing 
Mr. Brian Toohey 
 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Just so everyone knows, we're just going to wait for a few minutes.  We're 

waiting for a sixth Commissioner who we have been in communication with and he is supposed to be 

here this evening.  So we'll give him a few more minutes and then we'll get started, so I apologize for the 

delay. 

 (Off the record.) 

I) CALL TO ORDER 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  I'd like to go ahead and -- I would call the -- I'll call the Thursday, May 19th 

Planning and Zoning Commission meeting to order.  May I have a roll call, please. 

 MS. BURNS:  Yes, you may, Mr. Chairman.  I am present.  Mr. Harder? 

 MR. HARDER:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Mr. Stanton?  Mr. Strodtman? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Ms. Rushing? 

 MS. RUSHING:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Mr. Toohey? 

 MR. TOOHEY:  Here.   

II) PUBLIC INFORMATION AND COMMENT 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  So at this point, we -- we do not have a quorum, so we only have one  

official -- or two official items that need a vote.  So what we're going to do is we're going to go ahead and 

continue with the public portion of the meeting, which is probably what a lot of you are here for.  So we'll 

go ahead and get started with that, and then if and when Mr. Stanton arrives, then we'll do the approval of 

the minutes and we do have one request of a tabling item and we'll do that at the end once we have a 

quorum.  So with that, I'll turn it over to staff.   

Case No. 16-110 

 A request by the City of Columbia to adopt a Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 

governing subdivision and land use regulations throughout the City of Columbia's corporate 

limits as requested by the City Council and supported by the City's 2013 comprehensive plan 
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entitled "Columbia Imagined - The Plans for How We Live and Grow."  The UDO will replace 

Chapter 25 (Subdivisions) and Chapter 29 (Zoning) of the City Code as well as incorporate 

provisions from Chapter 12A (Land Disturbance) Chapter 20 (Planning), Chapter 23 (Signs), and 

24 (Streets, sidewalks and Public Places) into its contents.  This is the second in a series of public 

information and comment sessions on the proposed UDO. 

 Staff report was given by Mr. Pat Zenner and Mr.Tim Teddy of the Planning and Development 

Department.   

 MR. ZENNER:  And with Mr. Stanton arriving, Mr. Chairman, would you like to officially call the 

meeting to order at this point? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Yes, sir.  I would like to do that.  I'll officially announce the meeting is in 

order.  Do I need to do roll call?  So can we do another roll call, please? 

 MS. BURNS:  Happy to.  Thank you.  Burns, I am here.  Mr. Harder? 

 MR. HARDER:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Mr. Stanton? 

 MR. STANTON:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Ms. Rushing? 

 MS. RUSHING:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Mr. Strodtman? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  Mr. Toohey? 

 MR. TOOHEY:  Here. 

 MS. BURNS:  All right.  We have quorum.   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you. 

III) APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 MR. ZENNER:  We have one item on the agenda that we'll -- actually, we'll ask you, would you 

like to go ahead and approve the agenda's minutes and content? 

IV) APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Yes.  Does anyone have any comments or notes on the minutes from last 

meeting?  I see none, so we'll do a thumbs up on approval of the minutes from last meeting.   

 (Unanimous vote for approval.) 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  The minutes have been approved.  Agenda is in order, so we'll accept the 

agenda.   

 MR. ZENNER:  We have one request and that is Case No. 16-101, and if you would like to read 

that title? 

V) TABLING REQUESTS 

Case No. 16-101 

 A request by Engineering Surveys and Services (agent) on behalf of the City of Columbia 
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(owner) for approval of a two-lot final minor plat to be known as "Sixth and Cherry Garage 

Subdivision", along with an associated variance to Section 2546(b).  The 1.6 acre subject site is 

located on the northwest corner of Sixth Street and Locust Street.  (The applicant is requesting 

that this item be tabled to the June 9, 2016 meeting.)    

 MR. STRODTMAN:  May I get a staff report, please? 

 MR. ZENNER:  This item was brought before you at the May 5th meeting and was requested to 

be tabled to this meeting.  We have recently had a discussion, an additional meeting with the applicant or 

I should say with the applicant's surveyor and they are requesting that some additional time be granted in 

order to work through a couple of items with the variance request that has been requested.  As some of 

you are aware, this is the parking lot that is to the west of our Fifth and Cherry Street parking structure.  

This particular parking area is actually being conveyed to the University of Missouri to be used as parking 

to support the state museum which will be located south of the Heinkel Building and we are trying to 

resolve some issues as it relates to corner truncations on this property and looking at some additional 

alternatives that may be able to be incorporated into the request itself.  The tabling is supported by staff in 

order to allow opportunity for us to resolve those outstanding matters and we would recommend approval 

of the tabling.   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you, staff -- Mr. Zenner.  Any questions of Mr. Zenner?  As I see 

none.  As we typically do, I will open it up.  If anyone in the public has any information that they would like 

to share with us on this matter, we'll take it at this time.  As I see none, I'll go ahead and close that 

portion.  Commissioners, any comments, questions?  Anybody have any concerns about tabling it for one 

more session?  In our past, we typically would agree to a second request, a third request, then we will 

have to maybe have a little further dialogue on it.  Do I see -- would anybody like to make a motion to 

table this request? 

 MS. RUSHING:  So moved. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  I have a motion.  Do I have a second? 

 MR. STANTON:  Second. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Mr. Stanton, thank you for the second.  Ms. Secretary, may we have a roll 

call, please. 

 MS. BURNS:  Yes.  In the matter of 16-101: 

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.  Voting Yes:  Ms. Burns,  

Mr. Harder, Mr. Stanton, Mr. Strodtman, Ms. Rushing, Mr. Toohey.  Motion carries 6-0. 

 MS. BURNS:  Okay.  Motion carries. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.  We'll look forward to the next one in a couple of weeks.  And 

now back to our regular scheduled show.   

Case No. 16-110 (Continued) 

 Staff report was continued by Mr. Pat Zenner of the Planning and Development Department. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Zenner.  Fellow Commissioners, are there any specific 
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questions for either Mr. Teddy or Mr. Zenner before we get into public comment?  I see none.  For public 

comment, how we're going to do it is ask for your name and address.  When you approach the podium, if 

you will give us your name and address.  We'll ask for three minutes -- to keep it to three minutes each so 

that we can get through this evening within our allocated amount of time.  So just, if you would like to, 

stand up and start heading this way, but we'll turn it over and open to public comments in no particular 

order. 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  So first one up? 

 MR. ALBERT:  Kurt Albert, my office is at 1512 Windsor.  My life's work has been to preserve the 

Benton-Stephens housing as it is in its single-family profile.  We have been suffering a lot of this 

economic rape, exploitation.  Our biggest problem appears to be a -- for example, a two to four lots 

instead of a 30-, 40-foot wide house, we have 100-foot wide townhouse with no separations.  This is not 

in keeping with the neighborhood character.  We're a vibrant neighborhood.  We have a sense of we.  I 

understand why they want to develop these areas because they're exploiting the character of what we 

have worked so hard for so many years to do.  Of course, we are suffering economic loss as well as the 

character of the neighborhood.  I think the most important thing that you guys could do for us would be to 

stop the zero lot lining of the buildings so that instead of a 30- or 40-foot wide house, you have 100-foot 

wide.  It is theoretically possible to build a front all the way around the block with a few places that let 

people in for parking.  This is what we do not want.  Any questions?   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Commissioners, is there any questions of this speaker?  No.  Thank you.  

Thank you, sir.   

 MR. ALBERT:  Thank you. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Appreciate it.   

 MR. GRIGGS:  Commission and staff, I'm Dave Griggs.  I live -- reside at 6420 North Highway VV 

in Columbia, and I'm here honestly tonight to speak about a particular portion of the City called the 

Business Loop.  I must confess that I'm the vice-chair of the Business Loop CID, so it is of particular 

interest to me.  We've been working on forming a CID, or at least I have, for about 15 years.  My point of 

view is this.  I remember Business Loop when it was Highway 40 many, many years ago.  It was a two-

lane, probably 25-foot, 30-foot wide road with parking along the side and all kinds of highway-related 

businesses -- car dealers, motels, et cetera, along the Business Loop.  My goal tonight is not to really 

criticize or ask to rewrite the peripheral zoning corridor regulations at all, but to ask your consideration 

and particularly staff's consideration for making some allowances to eliminate what I foresee might be 

unintended consequences that might result from this proposal.  I believe you have the opportunity to draft 

a code that encourages and incentivizes redevelopment of the Business Loop which we all, I hope, 

believe is desperately needed, as opposed to unintentionally severely restricting the potential 

redevelopment that ultimately prevents positive improvement in business growth on the Business Loop.  

The Loop is an older thoroughfare with many, many small lots and redevelopment, because of the lot 
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size, becomes very difficult to meet today's standards.  In fact, 33 percent of the lots in our CID are less 

than half of an acre, 73 percent are under an acre, and only 27 percent of the lots are larger than an acre.  

The vast majority of these buildings and lots were the buildings were built in the late '40s or early '50s.  

The land wasn't even in the City, it was out in the county along the highway.  So you can understand why 

we have some really unique situations.  As an example, the building I currently occupy was built in 1952.  

I remember that it used to have tremendous frontage and was Nathey Chevrolet.  My brother went to 

work there in 1959 and they actually parked cars in the grass out in front of the Chevrolet dealership and 

still had all kinds of room before they got to the street.  Today, I have maybe 25 feet from my building to 

the curb of -- of the state right-of-way.  So I've got about 20 feet to the state right-of-way -- real 

challenges.  When built, it had tons of space as I just said.  There are many, many examples of similar 

properties that will be seriously impacted if and when it comes to the fact that they need to be rebuilt from 

a fire or tornado damage or something like that, or if the site is being redeveloped on the Business Loop.  

As an example, and this is just one -- one example that points out -- there have been only two or three 

what I would classify truly new developments on the Business Loop in approximately the last decade, and 

I'm going to preface that with one of these being the Kia dealership, and I can't remember when Vincent 

Lumber Company was torn down and the Kia dealership was built, but it's probably been over ten years.  

Other than that, there's the Aldi store that came from the Schwabe Farm, and the Auto-Zone store that's 

directly across the street from my store.  To my knowledge, all other investments on the Business Loop 

have been what I would term redevelopment projects.  As an example of that is tearing down a Pizza Hut 

that's -- desperately needs to be torn down and building a Popeye's Restaurant.  That's taking one 

restaurant down and putting in another restaurant and not changing the use or anything.  I encourage you 

to consider some considerations in the ordinance that encourage redevelopment on the Business Loop 

as most business and property owners cannot do major improvements that make financial sense under 

the new ordinances due to setback requirements, sidewalk requirements, landscaping, stormwater 

requirements, et cetera.  These are very unique parcels, some very small, some with buildings that 

virtually take 75, 85, 90 percent of the lot because that's the way they were built and the next building 

next door was built, there were no codes, no zoning ordinances to restrict that, so that really does present 

some unique challenges.  What we don't want and can honestly end up with is empty lots on the Business 

Loop along with abandoned buildings and that's exactly what we're trying to fix up the Business Loop.  So 

the timing of this ordinance is very critical for us.  It could be very beneficial for the community if we really 

try to improve the northern corridor of the City.  I thank you very much for allowing me to present my 

concerns.  Thank you.  Any questions? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Commissioners, is there any questions of this speaker?  I have one, sir --  

Mr. Griggs? 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Okay. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  What -- how many -- you mentioned some statistics of maybe 70 percent 

were less than an acre.  How many of your lots or how many of the lots do you -- would you guess     
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would -- could not be brought into compliance would they -- if they were to be destroyed -- the 75 

percent?  How many of those -- what percentage would you say would fall underneath your concern? 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Well, I would tell you even in my own building, which is 22,000 square foot could 

not be rebuilt to be functional for my business –- 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  As -- the way you need it. 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Yeah -- in that situation.  The percent example of that is the block from Garth east 

to Grand and on down to Providence Road where Ennis Appliance is and there's a couple of restaurants 

and a -- and the Break Time building.  Ennis Appliance has unfortunately very little parking in front of it 

simply because the highway has encroached onto his lot so much.  There's a loading dock at the back of 

his store that used to be Schaperkotter Hardware that's probably about 12 foot and two steps to the alley, 

so there is truly no rear setback, no -- no side parking on either side because there's already buildings 

there.  If Gary lost his building due to a fire, I don't honestly know the size of his building, but I would 

guess it's 8,000 to 10,000 square foot, and I would tell you it would probably end up being a 3,500 to 

4,500 square foot building to meet all the new codes on that lot.   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Which, in essence, probably wouldn't be suitable for his business as it would 

be yours, and you would have to be forced to go someplace else or close your business? 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Exactly.  You either -- you either abandon what's there, obviously have to clean it 

up, but -- but, basically, you go someplace else to build your business or you just eliminate that business 

and eliminate the jobs of the people that work there. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  And you're specifically looking for the lots as is?  Once they start being 

combined and things of that nature, then this wouldn't apply?  I mean, you –- 

 MR. GRIGGS:  I would agree with that completely.  And, obviously, combining those lots depends 

upon the owner's willingness to sell, et cetera. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Right.   

 MR. GRIGGS:  And what the -- and what the cost is in relation to the benefit, but certainly there's 

that opportunity. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you. 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Yes, sir.  Thank you very much. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Any other questions?  Thank you, Mr. Griggs. 

 MR. GRIGGS:  Thank you. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  The next speaker, please? 

 MR. LAND:  I'm Paul Land.  I reside at 4104 Jocelyn Court.  I can't quite understand -- I'm 

perplexed that we would receive this draft document two days before a public hearing.  I'm overwhelmed 

by that.  I mean, this thing was issued in October, sat idle till three days ago and then we have to come 

up here and talk about it, so I'm a little -- little disturbed by that timing and the rush to get things done after 

a long delay.  I may jump all over the place because that's kind of the way this document reads to me.  

One of the things I would like to see before the next public hearing is I'd like to see a revised map big 
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enough that I can read on this -- on the downtown -- downtown district -- the regulating plan.  It comes in 

a very small format.  And I apologize I came in late.  I forgot the meeting started at 6:00, so you may have 

covered this.  But on page 102 of this document, it reads, A petition to designate a landmark may be 

made only by the owner of the proposed landmark, and that's -- that's great.  The next sentence reads, A 

petition to designate a historic district may be made only by the owners of at least 60 percent of the 

Boone County tax map parcels of the proposed historic district.  And I think there needs to be some 

additional language there.  This would describe two out of three property owners could create a historic 

district.  And if I'm the person that owns the property on either side of those two and they want to 

suddenly create a historic district that I may not want to be a part of, I -- I think I should have some 

recourse.  Maybe that needs to be expanded to be -- it has to be at least ten parcels or it has to be of a 

certain size.  I'm -- I'm a little bit concerned about that.  There is a definition further on that on page 103 

that describes, The overall boundaries of local historic districts are determined by the same standards of 

the National Registry of Historic Places.  And after testimony tonight, maybe somebody on this 

Commission or somebody at staff can explain what some of those guidelines are.  I just don't know what 

they are.  The -- there are some uses that -- that are permitted today, but are not permitted in the 

corresponding replacement district.  And when those uses are taken from those districts, I think that's 

about the same as a rezoning.  And I think that if those type of properties exist where -- where a permitted 

use today is no longer permitted within the new district, then those property owners ought to be identified 

and notified in writing that something is going to change with their property because they may not be 

aware of that.  Some people are more involved with these properties than others.  Some people own 

these properties from out of town, and they may not even be aware of that a zoning ordinance is -- is 

happening.  I would echo some of Dave's concerns, the previous speaker, about the Business Loop.  As 

most of those businesses were developed out there, the residents moved out to them.  So some of this, 

the commercial developments would be required to go from a ten-foot setback on their rear yard to 20 

foot now.  And if -- I'm fearful that may get in the way of redevelopment on particularly these small lots.  I 

don't know what the solution is there, if there needs to be a special overlay district for the Business Loop 

or some consideration for exempting those lots that are under a half acre or under an acre.  I think that is 

something that you may want to consider.  That concludes the day's report. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.  Is there any questions?  Paul -- Mr. Land, I think staff might 

have –- 

 MR. ZENNER:  I just want to add a clarification for Mr. Land's information.  We're not taking any 

formal vote tonight, Mr. Land. 

 MR. LAND:  I understand that. 

 MR. ZENNER:  You have the ability to go back, research, review, and come back and hone your 

comments, if you so desire, as they relate to something more, for what we're presenting this evening. 

 MR. LAND:  No.  I understand.  Okay. 

 MR. ZENNER:  So please don't think that we're going to not let you come back and speak about 
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the same thing, if not a little bit more in-depth. 

 MR. LAND:  But I guess what I'm trying to say is, is if you get enough comments and this thing 

warrants, that it -- it should go to November instead of September, I want this Commission to feel 

authorized to do that.  I think they have a duty to -- to take this under due diligence, not rush through 

because it's a 35- or 40-year life document.   

 MR. ZENNER:  Thank you. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.   

 MS. GARTNER:  Good evening.  Carrie Gartner, I'm the director of the Loop Community 

Improvement District, 601 Business Loop 70 West.  I just wanted to expand a little bit about what Dave 

Griggs was talking about.  The Business Loop is -- has varied lot sizes and varied buildings.  Some, like 

Parkade or Mizzou North, are probably more appropriate for Stadium.  Some are so small they look much 

more like downtown-style development.  As such, we just found some concerns when we had very, very 

small lots.  And, again, about a third of them are -- are over an acre and about a third are under a half an 

acre, so there's just not a lot of room on some of these lots.  An example, Dave did mention Ennis 

Appliance.  That's actually -- it's a -- the Ennis family has owned this business and the building for years.  

It's .2 acres, so that's 90 -- about 9,000 square feet -- the lot.  The building is 7,500 square feet.  If, God 

forbid, something happens to a building that size on a lot that size, there is -- it's very hard to rebuild and 

add parking and the screening and the buffers and all the new requirements.  The parking requirements 

would say that he should add 25 spaces.  He has four now -- maybe three.  He just doesn't have that 

much room.  So our overall concern is that again if there is some sort of damage that happens, that we 

will be left with unused buildings and the inability to rebuild particularly for business -- a lot of small 

businesses.  Other than that, we -- we actually -- other than that, concern about the small lots, we have a 

few other minor concerns.  I've sent everyone that list.  Overall, though, our goal isn't to really alter the 

vision that the consultants put together for M-C zoning.  We're very excited about a lot of the things -- 

artisan industries, farmers' markets.  Reduced parking requirements is great.  Like I said, we don't have a 

lot of space and we have a lot of parking.  And then the option for transit oriented developments is 

exciting, as well.  We think that's -- it's a really good way to get some pedestrian-friendly developments 

going on the Business Loop.  So that said, our concerns are with these small lots and we're 

recommending some sort of accommodations for that.  So that's all I have for you, and if you have any 

questions for me, I would be happy to answer them. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Any questions?  Yes, Ms. Burns? 

 MS. BURNS:  Oh, thank you.  Yes.  It seems like there's real concern about fire and damage to 

the businesses.  I hope it's not under an evil eye right now. 

 MS. GARTNER:  No.  Well, we -- as you know, we have a lot right now that was a huge fire, And 

so that lot has been lying fallow, so –- 

 MS. BURNS:  Well, I guess my question would be, are you more concerned about damage or 

redevelopment that might be -- 
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 MS. GARTNER:  I think it -- I think they tend to go hand-in-hand with the small lots.  Now, our -- 

our thought is certainly we want to be good neighbors.  We -- we want to have good connections to the 

adjoining neighborhoods.  If there is room, I mean, certainly landscaping, screening, buffers, that all 

makes perfect sense.  Our concern is what do you do on a super small lot.  And whether it's damage or 

redevelopment, that -- that is the concern.  So how do we take a building that might be older, might really 

need some replacement, but they only have the 9,000 square feet.  When it comes to assembly parcels -- 

large parcels, absolutely.  We -- we understand that there's room to do all these things. 

 MS. BURNS:  And just one other comment.  I would love to see the Business Loop get creative, 

like the Ennis Appliance building.  I've shopped there for years.  I know about the four parking spaces, but 

I also know there's a row of parking in front of all those buildings.  And wouldn't it be great if the 

businesses came together with kind of a parking cooperative. 

 MS. GARTNER:  They actually do share parking.  Now, there are some really good shared 

parking for MDT.  Those do not apply to M-C zoning.  So if we build -- if you build downtown, you can 

work on I think it's a mile from the development.  But in M-C, there's not that type of shared parking.  We 

absolutely believe that.  We have a lot of schools on the Business Loop and -- and their times are 

different than perhaps retailers.  So we'd love that option.  They're doing it unofficially now, but there is no 

way they've even got 28 spaces for poor Gary Ennis. 

 MS. BURNS:  Well, I'm glad that there's a discussion about that, because I think that's a really 

creative way to deal with some of the issues that you're talking about. 

 MS. GARTNER:  I -- I agree.  And you know what, if there's one thing that we'd like to do is find 

ways to cut back on just wide-open expanses of parking lots and do something more creative.  That 

would be fantastic.   

 MS. BURNS:  Thank you.   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Any additional questions?  Ms. Rushing? 

 MS. RUSHING:  I have one question.  Do you have any ideas on how you would balance the 

need for sidewalks in a pedestrian-friendly area and the circumstances that are present on the Business 

Loop? 

 MS. GARTNER:  That is the $60,000 question.  We are very supportive of making it a pedestrian 

corridor.  We -- we know that there are a lot of places -- people that live close to it, they can walk to the 

Business Loop.  We also know there's a lot of employers and students that can walk to lunch or to get a 

cup of coffee.  We're trying to figure that out.  I think what that's going to take is a consultant to come in 

and look at corridor-wide plans.  Right now, we can kind of squeeze sidewalks in and the City is doing a 

pretty good job of that as they underground.  MoDOT right-of-ways vary from parcel to parcel, so as -- as 

Dave Griggs pointed out, you know, they've lost kind of the right-of-way, so there's almost no room for 

sidewalks left.  So we're going to have to get creative and we're going to have to have some help to figure 

out how to get continuity of sidewalks rather than just kind of squeezing them in here and there.  So, 

yeah.  top priority, but it's going to take a little bit of planning and community involvement to make that 
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happen.  So we're not saying we don't want sidewalks.  We do. 

 MS. RUSHING:  Well, I don't live far from there.  I'm not in that area, but I can tell you walking up 

there is a challenge. 

 MS. GARTNER:  I did a site survey where I walked up and down the whole stretch, and I was 

kind of traipsing through front yards, so I understand. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you. 

 MS. GARTNER:  Thank you, everyone. 

 MR. FARNEN:  My name is Mark Farnen, 103 East Brandon, Columbia.  I have a couple of things 

that I think are pertinent to tonight's And some of them that go back and forth between parts, but I'll try 

and address the things that are mostly in this part -- definitions.  There is a reference made to four-sided 

design, and this came up at the last meeting a little bit.  And they cited a building that is across from Jeff 

Junior that's a new building and it looks really good, cool, has all the different facade and depths and all 

that stuff on the front, but somebody noticed that on the backside, it's flat.  I cannot think of very many 

buildings at all that face four streets unless they're a block big or they have an alley and they're a half a 

block long and they go through the back.  And so if the definition is a four-side -- is called four-sided 

design, it should be multisided design, and I think it needs to talk about -- the way it says it in there is all 

sides of a building visible from public or private streets or travelways shall use the same materials.  So 

does that -- I don't quite understand that because if I'm a block away, but I can -- the building is tall 

enough if I can see it and it doesn't face that street, does that kick in?  And I don't -- I don't know how to -- 

I don't know how to do that right, and I don't think anybody just reading the definition or what is called 

four-sided design, I don't think very many people at all are ever going to be four-sided design.  I think 

mostly it's going to be two, could be three.  So in the definitions part, which is at the beginning, I also don't 

think -- and this is for everybody's protection, that they define a story.  What is a story, and I referenced 

this the last time.  But if -- I think there's a definition of the height of a -- the tallest height of a building, an 

MDT.  I think it's 120 feet.  But if you build a hotel and it has a mezzanine on the second floor and you hit 

the M button on an elevator, is that a story or not?  And if it fits within the thing, is that disqualified?  I don't 

know how to -- I don't know how to define a story still even after all the CVS stuff.  So I think that would be 

a good one to put in there and just for everybody's protection.  On the first -- okay.  Let me move to the 

purpose part.  This one is one I struggle with.  The purpose of the new zoning ordinance indicates that, if 

adopted, it will regulate land use, and will implement the vision and recommendations for the City of 

Columbia that are articulated in the Columbia Imagined comprehensive plan.  I have read that whole plan 

and I have read all the other plans that include the East Columbia Area Plan, the Northeast Columbia 

Area Plan, the Rock Quarry Road Special Area Plan, the West Central Columbia Neighborhood Plan, the 

Avenue of the Columns Master Plan, the Avenue of the Columns Project Downtown Columbia 

Beautification Project Plan, the Downtown Columbia Gateways Project, the Land Use and Urban 

Opportunity Study, and the Urban Design and Planning Charrette for Downtown Columbia.  I don't know -

- all of those -- all of those plans were adopted at a time when we were under the previous zoning code.  
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And so all of them make reference to what was there then and how we did business then, and including 

the Columbia Imagined plan, which seems to put a high degree of emphasis on the creation of planned 

unit developments to solve the problem.  If that is the intent, and if that was the general character of that 

document, we're moving to something that's supposed to avoid planned unit development, that's 

supposed to limit that except in special cases, then the guidance that we get from that document is 

misplaced.  So what I would do is -- and I know we have to have a comprehensive plan.  That's -- that's 

required by state law.  But if they were in that, then I -- I would hope that in the spirit of the adoption of the 

new code, that we would remember that, the comprehensive plan is suggestive only.  It is not the law.  It's 

a guide, and it should help us.  But we should also be cognizant of the fact that even within that plan 

itself, there are inconsistencies or the things that are self-contradictory.  And that's why we have people 

come down here at Planning and Zoning meetings all the time, and they'll go, well, I read this part in the 

comprehensive plan, and it says we should do infill, and this map shows that we should put all these 

buildings right here, And somebody else will come in and say, well, I read the comprehensive plan and it 

says that we should try and maintain as much farmland as possible.  Then they'll identify on the other 

side, well, this is a commercial node, and we want -- we think that commercial nodes that have sufficient 

infrastructure should be utilized to their fullest extent.  And then somebody else will come in and say, 

yeah, but we like the neighborhood the way it is, and I understand both sides of that.  But the 

comprehensive plan Columbia Imagined relies on those inconsistent directions and allows for what I think 

is what we're trying to avoid, more arbitrary decision and get it to a more planned decision where we can 

actually look at the ideas that are espoused, use those, and not rely too heavily or not believe that if we 

get into a fix, that the comprehensive plan is going to have the answer because I don't think it does, and it 

was created at a time when none of this was envisioned.  So I also need -- I would also like to ask how -- 

how those subplans fit into that whole -- that whole thing because if it says that what we are trying to do is 

enact and emphasize the comprehensive plan, what about the East Columbia Plan, Northeast Columbia 

Area Plan, Rock Quarry Special Road.  I know the special overlay districts are specifically dealt with in 

this document.  The others are not.  So that's a real question about process and about intent and about 

where do we -- where do we get our guidance.  The last one is a lot lighter and less philosophical.  My 

family comes   from -- we have -- there is a long line of funeral directors in my family.  My father -- and 

Dad and I used to live upstairs at a funeral home and next to one for several years of my life.  There is a 

special use deal for funeral homes, and it says that the use shall be conducted within a fully enclosed, 

legally permitted structure.  Most -- a lot of funeral homes are built and they have, like, a carport or they 

have, like, a -- it looks like a drive-through at a bank.  They do that for the courtesy and for the 

convenience of the deceased and for the pallbearers when they have to take the casket out of the house 

and then they need to put it into the hearse.  And they have this overhang part and people can walk out, 

and when it's bad weather and move -- this is Missouri.  That happens all the time.  But I don't think that 

that would be allowed for funeral homes in this language.  And I think this is an easy one to fix and I think 

it should be.  I think it would be a great one to be able to have it so that it would look like a drive-through 
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bank, and you don't have to do a drive-through.  They do some of those in California where you can drive 

through your car and have the body behind a glass so they do -- and I'm not asking for that.  But I think 

that they ought to amend that and it would be simple to do, and I think the other part of it is right where 

you don't allow them to display the services or merchandise in the parking lot.  That's fine.  But I think you 

ought to be able to build out that other part, and I think it's an easy fix, and I have no idea why it wouldn't 

be otherwise.  That's what I got right now.  Thank you. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Commissioners, any questions of this speaker?  Thank you, sir.   

Mr. Stanton, do you have a question? 

 MR. STANTON:  I agree with the speaker.  We -- I think it's a good idea to kind of define where 

the specific neighborhood plans would fit into the purpose or, you know.  I think it kind of gives it teeth and 

I've always been looking for that, and I think that's a great idea.  That I think all these plans as they come 

online should be part of the process.   

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.  Sir, go ahead. 

 MR. COLBERT:  Good evening.  Caleb Colbert, attorney, 601 East Broadway.  I just had one -- or 

I have one brief comment that I want to bring to your all's attention.  I would direct your attention to the 

permitted use table.  As staff indicated earlier, this really isn't intended to affect the rezoning, but if you 

look at the industrial district as a special purpose industrial district, there are some uses that are deleted 

that are permitted by right today.  For example, restaurants, bars, large retail -- large retail becomes a 

conditional use.  There are a lot of -- that may make sense for areas that are outside of downtown, but 

there are a lot of industrially zoned property in downtown Columbia.  So you're going to end up with areas 

along Providence, in the North Village Arts district that are not going to be allowed to have residential 

uses, that are not going to be allowed to have restaurant uses, that are not going to be allowed to have 

bars.  So what's the natural reaction to taking permitted uses away?  You're going to have property 

owners that come forward with rezonings.  And I'm foreshadowing a rezoning that will be in front of this 

Commission at the next P & Z meeting, but this is sort of one of those unintended problems that's created 

by changing the permitted uses.  So we're just asking that the Commission think through that and realize 

that we're going to have to come up with a solution for those properties -- properties that have a zoning 

that may not be what we want to have in downtown Columbia.  And if not industrial, why not the central 

business district.  So that's the extent of my -- or the extent of my comments this evening.  Happy for any 

questions. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Commissioners, is there any questions for this speaker?  Thank you, sir. 

 MR. COLBERT:  Thank you. 

 MR. NORGARD:  Good evening, Commission.  My name is Peter Norgard; I live at 1602 Hinkson 

Avenue.  I'm here in two capacities tonight.  The first capacity is as the Benton-Stephens Neighborhood 

Association President.  As you're aware, we have our overlay tweaks as they've been variously referred 

to.  Mr. Zenner has been gracious enough to help us out, craft language that the neighborhood would like 

to see.  We had a meeting on the 10th of this month at which we had a 30-0 vote in favor of the changes 
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that are in the proposal and I feel that that's significant for you to know.  My second capacity here is as a 

citizen -- concerned citizen.  I have actually a point of clarification maybe.  I think yards may be defined a 

little too constrictively.  There is no definition for -- no allowance for a tree if I -- if I read it correctly.  That 

may be something you might want to reconsider.  But as a concerned citizen, I'm -- I'm really in support of 

this overlay urban conservation district for the Benton-Stephens Neighborhood.  We do feel, as Kurt 

Albert pointed that -- pointed out, that we're -- we're sort of under attack.  We have -- I hate to use that 

phrase, but -- urban conservation as defined in the new code says public, private efforts to maintain and 

enhance older urban areas through stabilization, rehabilitation, protection, revitalization, conversion, infill 

development, or redevelopment.  Infill development and redevelopment are at the very end of that list of 

things to do, and yet they seem to be the very first thing that happens when a landowner comes in.  This 

is more of a recent problem for us, but, you know, people come in and they buy a place for an investment 

purpose, and they knock down a home without really considering the rights of the neighbors surrounding 

them.  And so we would argue that the landowner has rights and they're correct, but so do the other 

landowners that are surrounding them.  In fact, over 110 signatures of people support this change, 55 of 

which are landowners -- 56 now.  So I just wanted to say that we in Benton-Stephens perceive that this 

urban conservation district is supposed to restrict wholesale architectural change or neighborhood fabric 

change.  It's supposed to help us retain the values of our community, specifically the people that it attracts 

currently compared to the people that it may attract with all these high infill developments.  And then we 

feel that it should maintain or encourage affordable housing, and I would argue that the rates as they 

currently -- rent rates as they currently stand kind of push lower income families out of -- out of the area 

and make it more difficult.  And then I will quote Director Teddy.  In your presentation, you say The UCD 

can be used to manage the scale of infill development, and we feel that our urban conservation district, as 

we have reworked it, would effectively do this.  That's all I have. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.  Commissioners, any questions of this speaker?  Thank you, sir.  

Anyone else wishing to speak on the matter or any matters?  We still have plenty of time.  Don't be shy.   

 MS. HIGHCAMP:  Good evening.  I'm Kristen Highcamp, 600 Paris Court, Secretary of the 

Benton-Stephens Neighborhood Association.  I was also the chair of the writing committee for the 

Benton-Stephens -- the old overlay ordinance -- this one.  Just briefly, I wanted to say that this ordinance 

was initiated in the year 1990 by then Mayor Mary Anne McCullom and the City Council who spent money 

on a plan for Benton-Stephens to look at preserving the neighborhood as an historic district.  Ten years 

later, it was codified in the Benton-Stephens Overlay Ordinance by the City Council and Mayor Hindman.  

This proposed overlay ordinance or UCO or whatever it is now is a product of a committee of volunteers 

from the association.  It included five or six homeowners, a tenant.  Some of those homeowners also 

owned homes and they're landlords.  We had landlords -- four landlords who -- two of them who used to 

live in the -- in the neighborhood who were also on the last writing committee, and a landlord who is 

becoming a developer who has been a landlord there for years and a developer who you could also say 

is a landlord because he collects rent.  And so our lone developer was often overruled by the 
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homeowners.  It was -- the homeowners and the landlords who are passionate about the historic 

preservation of the neighborhood.  I've written comments.  You'll read them.  Our demographics show that 

the largest group of residents in Benton-Stephens are young professionals, and the intent of this 

ordinance was indeed to help stave off the influx of student housing.  The parking problems, the problems 

with transients, and the problems with a building mass that isn't -- that doesn't really compliment the 

residential neighborhood or the architectural vernacular.  I would say this, that two of our developers did 

wonder, given that we have increased the percentage of green space in this ordinance, as well as added 

parking off street, since we are more than 100 percent parked out in Benton-Stephens now.  So you add 

anybody and all students bring cars, but we don't have the streets for them.  Well, they wondered what 

would happen to their buildings given that we are putting more streets and green space on -- or we are 

requesting more stringent green space in the ordinance -- what would happen if their buildings burn down 

and how could they rebuild?  And I've heard this echoed from the Business Loop people.  I would suggest 

that you consider and staff can advise where an existing building is nonconforming and must be replaced, 

it's allowed to build to the size of the original footprint.  Thank you.  Do you have any questions? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Okay.  Commissioners, any questions for this speaker?  I see none.  Thank 

you, Ms. Highcamp.  Anyone else who would like to speak?  With that, I'll close the public comment 

portion of it. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 

VI) COMMENTS OF STAFF 

 MR. ZENNER:  Oh.  If the public is interested in reading the documents as they are posted or 

what we have discussed this evening, it is available out on the community development page of the City's 

website at como.gov, and just look for the development code update link under new and noteworthy on 

our page and you'll be able to click on it and see the Benton-Stephens proposed revisions to the overlay 

as well as all the topics we covered here this evening, with 29-1 through 29-3.  We will be adding to this 

particular location with each additional session and, when we're done, we will basically have all of our 

chapters out there and content to be reviewed.  And when we have our final draft ready, that will also go 

in this location.  Comments from your visitors, so your next meeting is June 9th and again it will start at 

6:00 p.m., our regular meeting session and that will basically go from 6:00 to 8:00 for our development 

code, module 2, part 1, and then we will go into our regular agenda items which consist of four.  We have 

the delayed Sixth and Cherry Street garage, that subdivision plat final and a variance on it.  We have a 

plat for Russell Subdivision Plat No. 6, which is just a subdivision of an existing parcel.  And then the 

Drury Inn subdivision plat.  This is off of Keene and I-70 Drive Southeast, a proposed redevelopment -- 

platting of a lot for the development of new hotel.  And then, of course, we have as your final item or our 

first item, the development code update, Form and Standards, Part 1.  And we will have one public 

hearing item following subdivisions and that is 300 North Tenth Street, and this is a rezoning request from 

M-1 to C-2.  This is the site of the old Koonse Glass commercial business there at the corner of Park and 

Tenth.  Just so you can orient yourself throughout the City as to where we will be talking about our items 
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on the 9th, the Sixth and Cherry Street parking garage, as it exists today; the Russell Subdivision plat off 

of Russell Boulevard.  This is just north of the parcel that we have recently divided for Russell Subdivision 

Plat 5 that is closer down towards Russell Boulevard Elementary.  And then we have the Drury Inn 

Subdivision.  This is the old hotel site, and then across from what was formerly Patricia's, now Moser's.  

And then the 300 North Tenth site, which was the old former Koonse Glass, and that is proposed to be 

rezoned from M-1 to C-2.  That is all we have to offer for you tonight.  Again, we will, as we discussed in 

work session, endeavor to get you the revisions for the June 9th meeting before Monday, and I thank you 

very much for your time and your patience this evening. 

VII) COMMENTS OF COMMISSIONERS 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you.  Questions from Commissioners or questions or comments? 

 MS. BURNS:  I have a comment. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Yes, Ms. Burns? 

 MS. BURNS:  I know at the last City Council meeting that we are looking forward to welcoming a 

new Commissioner, and I'd also like to congratulate Mr. Strodtman on his reappointment to the 

Commission.  And we have an outgoing Commissioner, Steve Reichlin, who is stepping down after many 

years of service.  And I'd like to thank and recognize him for his service, particularly as Chair.  I learned a 

lot from Steve in the past two years that I've been on the Commission and I particularly commend his 

ability to run a meeting and the way that he treated people who came up and participated in the meeting 

and made everyone feel good about their comments and hopefully, not always, about the outcome of the 

situations.  So thank you to Steve for his service. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Thank you, Ms. Burns.  Other Commissioners? 

I have a quick question for staff.  How will we track the public comment portion?  How will -- is there going 

to a place where I can go and find comments that were made at -- meetings, or how will I remember, you 

know, six weeks from now or six months from now?  How -- what's the process there? 

 MR. ZENNER:  The meeting minutes that are taken –- 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Would have –- 

 MR. ZENNER: -- and they are a verbatim minute transcript.  They will be available on our 

agendas, the minutes for the meeting prior to are those that will always be there. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  And those same comments are being shared with our consultants -- with the 

City's consultants or some format of those comments are being shared? 

 MR. ZENNER:  The staff at this point is managing the public comment and the amendments 

process to the Code, so part of the purpose of having the minutes and having these sessions is to allow 

us an opportunity to be able to go back, reevaluate the comments, and identify where they can be 

incorporated where possible, and then if we cannot incorporate them or they are not desired to be 

incorporated due to other reasons, the notation will be made accordingly that a comment was made to 

address this particular issue, however, has not been incorporated into the final document. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  And that would be, like, in a footnote format or –- 
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 MR. ZENNER:  Currently, the process as has been presented in this set of chapters was side 

margin notes indicating where changes have been made.  The preference that personally I would have is 

having to manage this document as it continues to grow is side margin notes, not additional footnotes, 

which have to -- then it changes all the footnoting of the entire document.  That is one route.  There are 

probably multiple avenues by which we could consolidate comments, but as we did through the module 

process with Clarion, we will not be making changes as we move through this series of meetings.  We will 

be consolidating all those changes at the end identifying when changes were made either by a side-

margin note, or we will be identifying it as a separate call out that it has not been addressed and that may 

take the form of a separate memorandum that indicates the following comments made, addressed in 

section such-and-such.  They may be side-noted in the document itself, but then those that have not 

made it would be noted as not being incorporated and an explanation. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  And at what point would we see that final document? 

 MR. ZENNER:  That final document is not to be generated until after we complete our 

combination of all of the comments after our July 21st meeting.  We -- we will need at least a month at a 

minimum in order to be able to put together a document that can actually be presented for public 

consideration at a hearing.  And while we are optimistic that an August 18th introduction of that hearing 

draft may be possible, there is a lot of work to be done between now and then in -- in response to          

Mr. Farnen's -- not Mr. Farnen's question, I believe Mr. Land's concern today, that if we need to take more 

time, staff is not objectionable to that.  However, we are also being asked to expedite the production of 

this document to Council.  So, I mean, we are working from two different vantage points.  It's -- and I 

would like to be able to say we will get it to you August 18th, and that's the commitment we have made to 

Council, that is the commitment we're making to the public.  How soon we can get that out for 

consumption is a different story.  I mean, we do have a lot of material that may have to be merged.  Part 

of our role right now as a staff is we need to take the comments that we are receiving and we need to 

look at them as a postmortem to these types of meetings to ensure that we understand what needs to be 

done, identify where those changes may or may or may not be able to be incorporated, to lessen our 

burden at the end.  That's about the scope of what I can tell you now.  I don't know what my staff's 

workload will be and what other pressing urgencies may come along in the time.  That's -- that's what's 

making this difficult for me to give you a real definitive answer. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  I understand.  I also am concerned about the schedule.  I think that unless 

we have -- and the citizens have ample time to look at that final document, I'm very concerned that we're 

kind of ramming it down because we don't have any checkpoints to see what comments have 

incorporated, if at all or considered for incorporation until it's -- it's over or done, and then I think it's going 

to be -- if we don't have ample time for us, as well as everyone here or -- or out there to review it and 

understand it, I think we're -- I'm going to ask for more time because I don't think it's fair to -- it's a huge 

document.  I mean, I'm double-sided, and it's already, you know, that thick, and that's counting all the 

changes that might come down.  So I just want to understand the process because I am also a little 
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concerned about the schedule, that it seems very fast and very heated, and if we don't get a final 

document and we have to turn it around in a quick amount of time, I think that's unfair as many years as 

it's taken us to get to this point.  So I want -- Ms. Burns took some of my thunder, but I do want to 

welcome Michael McMann.  He is our newest Commissioner, will be in the next -- the next meeting, so we 

welcome him to the Commission.  We always have had a fairly longstanding tradition of trying to keep 

some of the political side out of our Commission and let the City Council handle that side of it, so I hope 

that we can continue to look at projects, merit them based on the Planning and Zoning regs that we have 

in place or the ones that we're on to have in the future, and then let the City Council handle the political 

side of it.  Lastly, Mr. Reichlin, thank him.  He served many years on the Planning and Zoning, so I would 

like to thank Mr. Reichlin for his time, and I know he's missing his last meeting.  I think he's dancing in 

Atlantic City right now with his wife, And so we wish him good look in that endeavor and thank him for his 

time.  And I think we have Mr. Toohey? 

 MR. TOOHEY:  I do have a question.  Are we better off encouraging the public to submit written 

comments with bullet points that we should address each of those bullet points before we move on?   

 MR. TEDDY:  I don't think there's any one form that you need to submit comments in.  To the 

extent that someone knows what outcome they want in a section of the Code or the Code itself, that 

would be a good piece of material for you, but you're also going to get individuals that just want to 

respond to one particular item.  It might be more comfortable just saying it out loud, at least in the 

meetings. 

 MR. TOOHEY:  I just didn't know if it would be easier to keep track of those if they did some 

written comments with bullets that we could address those specific points. 

 MR. TEDDY:  Yeah.  I -- my method is, I like to just keep all comments together and then run 

through them periodically and make sure that we address everything when we have the ultimate public 

hearing where we can then say we did get comments on these particular items and here is how the 

responded.  As Mr. Zenner indicated there are going to be those occasions where a suggestion is made 

and maybe it contradicts someone else's suggestions, so we're going to have to choose a 

recommendation and make it, but we might have something that's out in a memo for you so you kind of 

understand that there's a different point of view on that particular item. 

 MR. TOOHEY:  Okay. 

 MS. RUSHING:  Well, how does the Planning Commission weigh in on that discussion, I think, is 

the question.  If you have people submitting comments, you know, how do we weigh in on our view of 

those comments, particularly if they're -- there's one on this side and one on that side?  How does that 

discussion take place? 

 MR. TEDDY:  Well, you're going to have the document itself and then you're going to have public 

input.  I think as we go through this process we'll do our best to kind of frame issues for you and just 

indicate some of the opposing views if there are opposing views on particular standards or concepts in 

the Code.  And, you know, folks will get an opportunity to speak on the ultimate public hearing draft.  We 
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have that scheduled for -- tentatively, for August, I believe, in our schedule.  So what you're hearing 

tonight and what you hear in the next several meetings is folks reacting to the Code as they understand 

today, or it might be just something that they have as an issue that they want to make sure is resolved 

through the Code by whatever means.  So anything this large, you're going to get people that are reacting 

to language as it's been drafted, and then there's others that are simply going to have an issue and they 

just -- they just want to make sure that their concern is being addressed in some form or fashion in the 

Code.  It might not be necessarily critiquing the ordinance language itself.  They may just be putting it to 

you more as a question.  That'll be our job to respond.  You know, we can say if someone is concerned 

about small lots being disadvantaged because of all the site improvement standards, you know, and we 

can suggest to you here's ways that we deal with that as a problem. 

 MS. RUSHING:  So staff would be recommending? 

 MR. TEDDY:  Yeah.  We'll try to sift out what -- what appear as issues.  And an example is there 

are different opinions about what the parking standard should be.  I've -- I've heard extremes that require 

more parking for multifamily residential, for example, and then I've heard, no, don't encourage excessive 

paving, you know, actually reduce the parking standards or have maximum parking standards.  But we'll 

have to put that in some kind of perspective for you.  We'll have to bring whatever data we can -- can to 

bear on it, and in that specific example, you know, we're going to be making an ongoing study of our 

downtown parking.  So we'll give you the benefit of the best information we have available to us at the 

time, but understanding that, you know, an ordinance, if it's got a flaw in it after it's passed, you go back 

and you do a single-purpose amendment.  I mean, this -- or the remark that this is going to stand for 40 

years, well, we do continuously amend our zoning ordinance as needed.  This is just a comprehensive 

review which every once in a long while. 

 MR. TOOHEY:  I think that our fear is that we're not going to be able to debate some of these 

issues, that we're just going to hear these comments and then it's just going to be shipped up to the next 

level.  I mean, is that where you guys are kind of coming from with some of this? 

 MR. TEDDY:  Well -- and there might be an opportunity for you to discuss as a commission then 

what's your list of things that you want us to tee up for discussion for you.  What do you see as the 

unresolved or controversial? 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  The problem that I partly see with that, Mr. Teddy, is that we can list the 

priorities or what we perceive as priorities, like, you know, Business Loop is the lot size is obviously one 

of the big ones.  We won't know what the staff's recommendation is or what the outcome is until later in 

the end of the project when it would be nice to debate these as we're going along so that it's kind of fresh 

in mind, you know, and we don't have to -- because, you know, I'm trying to keep some notes just so that I 

can remember what some of the speakers said because these are some good points and I don't want 

them to get lost, not that you -- anything would get lost.  But when it's time to debate them, it's going to be 

hard to remember what Mr. Griggs was -- maybe his point was or -- you know.  So I kind would have to 

agree with Mr. Toohey that if -- if we have some kind of a tracking system or some way to respond or 
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comment or I don't know how.  I have to give it some thought, too, but I think we're missing a piece of it 

because we're not having a lot of engagement until the very end and I'm afraid that very end, August 

18th, is going to be intense, because that's really our debate time.  So -- oh.  Last thing, Commissioners, 

we have a busy schedule.  It's -- you know, it's summertime.  It's holiday time.  The kids are out of school.  

We have -- everybody is on vacations.  Make sure that we're communicating with Mr. Zenner our 

attendance.  We don't want to hold anybody up.  We don't want to push these off another two weeks or so 

because of our quorum, so please communicate with Mr. Zenner as soon as possible.  We have the 

dates out, so please let us know as quick as you know if you're not going to be in attendance so we can 

make arrangements.   

 MR. ZENNER:  And to that point, Mr. Chairman, we are at a quorum minimum on June 9th, so 

those of you have either already asked for the time off -- are you going to be in now, Mr. Harder?  Okay.  

Are congratulations in order?   

 MR. HARDER:  Thank you. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Congratulations.  All right.  Well, we don't have a quorum problem now, so if 

somebody wants to take a day off, you can. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Not at once. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And in -- in light of what I'm hearing, I would probably like to have an opportunity 

to discuss with the Commission during our June 9 work session a potential solution.  Unfortunately, I'm 

going to tell you it is not something that I would personally like.  If we are wanting to have a more 

thorough debate amongst the Commissioners as to the direction that staff may be going with these 

comments, we may need to be scheduling additional meetings.  And I -- I say that because of what I 

perceive to be a desire to move this document on the schedule that has been presented and if we want to 

make sure that we have ample time to discuss the staff's potential revisions, that is about the only means 

that I see possible.  It is a challenging enough process right now as we are going through this document 

as a staff concurrently while you are reviewing pieces of it and still identifying disconnects within the 

document that are an administrative issue for us.  So for us to be similarly generating response to public 

inquiry simultaneously is -- is a real issue.  And the only way we're able to do that is we have to carve out 

time if you're wanting to be directly engaged in the outcome. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Well, and I think it's appropriate that we can think about it between now and 

June 9th because if we truly do have that mindset that there's a deadline that we're up against, which 

that's a concern to start with, but if there is a deadline that we're up against, then I think that I would be 

supportive of some additional meetings, as bad as I want to say that, because at the end, we have to 

have some knowledge of these products and we just can't ram it down and -- if we don't have the time to 

talk about it, because a lot of things are being brought up I didn't think about or not in the same manner or 

in a different approach.  And so I think it's really good to have this dialogue because these are owners 

and it's companies and people that provide us service -- engineering, mechanical things that I don't have 

that skill And so I think it's good to hear that, but it generates a lot of dialogue in my mind that I'm not 
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having, so I would be welcome to that, but we'll -- obviously, that would be up to the group.  Yes, Ms. 

Burns? 

 MS. BURNS:  I would also agree with the extra meetings.  I think that we've dedicated ourselves 

to doing this.  I do believe that we need to stick with the time frame unless there's something 

extraordinary that comes up, and I think that if we have additional meetings and more time, we can get 

this ready to go before the Council in September. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And Mr. Teddy has a suggested and I will probably incorporate into the next 

installment of staff memorandum that go out a recap of questions.  If not with your agenda, they will come 

out with -- in a separate document given that we have to capture back through minutes now some of the 

topics that have been discussed. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Yeah.  Some are, like you mentioned, are administrative and it would be 

simple.  Others that probably need a little more dialogue as to how and I think that would be appreciative 

of us to have a little summary, so a great idea, Mr. Teddy.  Any further dialogue?   

VIII) ADJOURNMENT 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  If not, I'm looking for a motion for adjournment? 

 MR. TOOHEY:  I'll make a motion we adjourn. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  We have a motion.  A second? 

 MR. STANTON:  Second. 

 MR. STRODTMAN:  Mr. Stanton seconds.  With that, we're adjourned. 

 (Off the record.) 

 (The meeting adjourned at 8:21 p.m.) 


